#### CASE NO. S242835

### SUPREME COURT FILED

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEC 01 2017

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Petitioner and Appellant,

VS.

Deputy

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, et al.,

Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division One No. A144500

> San Francisco Superior Court (The Honorable Marla J. Miller) No. CPF-14-513-434

#### PETITIONER AND APPELLANT CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO'S OPENING BRIEF

DENNIS J. HERRERA, State Bar #139669
City Attorney
CHRISTINE VAN AKEN, State Bar #241755
Chief of Appellate Litigation
PETER J. KEITH, State Bar #206482

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can a city require state universities that operate paid parking lots within the city to collect and remit city parking taxes owed by their customers?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The City and County of San Francisco imposes a parking tax to raise revenue for its general fund. Whenever a customer pays to park in a San Francisco parking lot, the customer owes a parking tax that is added to the parking charge. The parking lot operator collects both with each sale, and then periodically remits its customers' tax payments in a single lump sum to the San Francisco Tax Collector. This arrangement is common; governments routinely require the sellers of taxed goods and services to collect the taxes owed by their customers.

The respondent state universities – the Regents of the University of California (UC Regents), the Board of Directors of Hastings College of the Law (Hastings), and the Board of Trustees of the California State University (CSU Trustees or SFSU) – operate more than two dozen parking lots in San Francisco where they sell parking to customers. Their parking operations collectively take in millions of dollars each year. But they refuse to collect the more than \$4 million per year in San Francisco parking taxes owed by their customers, asserting that San Francisco's parking tax is an impermissible attempt to regulate the universities in violation of constitutional and statutory protections for their autonomy, and in violation of sovereign immunity principles set out in *Hall v. City of Taft* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 177, 183 (*Hall*).

This Court should reject the universities' arguments. San

Francisco's tax-collection ordinance is a valid exercise of its constitutional revenue power under article XI, section 5 of the California Constitution.

Because the revenue power is fundamental to charter cities, and because the ability to *collect* taxes is just as important as the ability to *impose* them, this Court and lower courts require any limitations on the revenue power to be expressly stated. Here, the constitutional and statutory provisions that the universities rely on – article IX, section 9 for UC Regents and Hastings, and article XX, section 23 and Education Code section 89701 for CSU

Trustees – only constrain a city's exercise of its regulatory police power over state property, and do not expressly limit city revenue power.

Accordingly, these provisions cannot constrain San Francisco's authority to impose reasonable tax collection requirements. That result is in line with this Court's past cases holding that cities can tax what they cannot regulate, and can require tax collection by entities that they cannot regulate.

Nor do the universities' more general sovereignty arguments have force. The universities complain that a parking tax on their customers invades their sovereign power, because of the negative economic impact on their parking activities, and the indignity of having to undertake the clerical burdens of tax collection on behalf of another government. But similar complaints arise whenever two sovereigns have concurrent jurisdiction and taxing power, and the tax of one sovereign affects the activities of the other. This Court has resolved similar disputes in the past by applying the principles of intergovernmental taxation law. In broad terms, this body of law holds that one government may not impose a tax directly upon another government, or upon an institution that is a government instrumentality. But one government may impose a nondiscriminatory tax on private parties

doing business with another government, even if the effect of that tax is to increase the economic burden on government or those who do business with it.

These principles – which California courts have applied to uphold city taxation and tax collection from private parties doing business with the state – ensure that private parties do not get tax immunity by virtue of doing business with the government, whether they are employees, contractors, or customers. And they recognize the concurrent sovereignty of cities and the state, both of whom must raise revenue to provide essential public services – services which are enjoyed by everyone in the taxing jurisdiction, including those doing business with another government. Because the economic impact on state agencies whose customers are taxed by local jurisdictions is indirect, and because the administrative burden of collecting taxes is a minimal one that does not genuinely interfere with sovereign power, the intergovernmental taxation cases require even a sovereign to collect and remit another sovereign's taxes. These cases compel upholding San Francisco's parking tax and its collection requirement.

For these reasons, and others discussed below, this Court should reverse, and direct that a writ of mandate be issued requiring the state universities to collect San Francisco parking tax from their customers and remit those funds to San Francisco.

#### **BACKGROUND**

I. San Francisco imposes a general tax on parking customers, which parking operators are required to collect and remit to the city.

San Francisco imposes a parking tax to raise revenue for its general fund. (San Francisco Business & Tax Regulations Code (S.F. Tax Code),

art. 9, §§ 602.5, 615 [CT026, 035].) The 25 percent tax is levied on "occupants" of "parking space" who pay "rent" for a parking space in a "parking station" located in the City. (*Id.*, §§ 602, 602.5 [CT025-026].) A customer is required to pay the parking tax at the same time he pays the rent charge for parking. (S.F. Tax Code, art. 9, § 603 [CT026].) And, correspondingly, a parking station "operator" has a duty to collect the customer's tax payment at the same time the customer pays for parking. (*Id.*, § 601, subd. (a) [CT024], § 604 [CT026-027]; S.F. Tax Code, art. 6, § 6.7-1, subd. (a) [CT054].) At the end of each month, the operator remits its customers' tax payments to San Francisco. (*Id.*, § 6.7-1, subd. (d); *id.*, § 6.7-2, subd. (a) [CT055-056].)

The S.F. Tax Code exempts the State of California and other public entities from directly having to pay the parking tax. (*Id.*, § 6.8-1, subd. (a) [CT056-057].) However, the S.F. Tax Code explicitly states that even if a parking station operator is exempt from the duty to pay parking tax, the operator is not exempt from the duty to collect and remit parking taxes owed by its customers. (S.F. Tax Code, art. 9, § 601, subd. (a) [CT024]; S.F. Tax Code, art. 6, § 6.8-1, subd. (b) [CT056].) When it comes to the duty to collect the tax, file returns, and remit parking taxes to the Tax Collector, San Francisco's ordinances do not distinguish between private and public entity parking operators. (S.F. Tax Code art. 6, § 6.7-1, subd. (a); *id.*, § 6.7-1, subd. (a) & (d); *id.*, § 6.7-2, subd. (a) [CT054-056].)

San Francisco does excuse public entity operators from several requirements imposed on private parking operators, such as bonding and permitting requirements (S.F. Tax Code, art. 6, § 6.6-1, subd. (h)(2) [CT051]; S.F. Police Code, art. 17, § 1215, subd. (b) [CT099]), and

requirements for installing devices to properly track parking revenue and parking taxes (S.F. Tax Code, art. 22, § 2202 [CT095]).

# II. The respondent state universities operate paid parking lots in San Francisco, but they have never collected or remitted San Francisco parking taxes owed by their customers.

Respondent UC Regents is responsible for the operation of the University of California at San Francisco. UCSF has a medical school and related educational facilities, and several medical facilities in several different San Francisco neighborhoods. (CT339-340.) As of 2014, UC Regents was operating 15 parking stations in San Francisco, selling parking near UCSF facilities. (CT338-340.) As of 2014, these parking facilities comprised 5,750 parking spaces in San Francisco. (CT339.) By February 2015, UCSF was expected to have 1,050 additional parking spaces in San Francisco, in the Mission Bay area. (*Id.*)

UC Regents sets its own parking prices. For parking by the public, UC Regents charges amounts in line with the local market. Public parking prices are between \$28 and \$30 per day at most UCSF parking facilities. Permit parking prices are \$161 per month. (CT343.)

UC Regents' customers pay a substantial amount of parking fees – and these customers owe a substantial amount of parking tax. In fiscal year 2013, UC Regents received approximately \$17.1 million in parking fees, clearing \$4.5 million over the expense of operating its garages. (CT341, 343.) But UC Regents did not collect or remit any parking tax – which, at 25% of the \$17.1 million figure, was just under \$4.3 million in FY2013.

Respondent Hastings operates a graduate school of law in San Francisco, in the Civic Center/Tenderloin neighborhood. In 2006, Hastings built a 395-space parking garage near the school. (CT270-271.) Hastings,

like UC Regents, sets its own rates for parking. And, like UC Regents, Hastings sets its prices for public parking according to the market. Its public parking prices are "generally on par" with the prices charged by the nearby Civic Center garage, an 843-space City and County of San Francisco garage; however, unlike Hastings, the Civic Center garage's public parking prices include both the underlying parking charge and the parking tax. (CT273.) In any case, Hastings' parking prices charged to the public are between \$11 and \$26 for 2 to 12 hours. And monthly spots are priced at \$260 per month for non-students, and \$210 for students. Hastings offers a reduced price of \$9 for students who park on a daily basis. (CT271.)

Hastings' customers paid \$1.8 million in parking fees in fiscal year 2014. Revenue from parking fees exceeded the normal operating costs of the garage, but the garage does operate at a loss after allowing for the annual costs of construction bond servicing. (CT271-273.) For fiscal year 2014, the annual amount of tax that went uncollected and unpaid by Hastings customers, at 25% of \$1.8 million, was \$450,000.

Respondent CSU Trustees is responsible for San Francisco State
University. CSU Trustees operates nine parking stations in San Francisco
that charge for parking. (CT189-190.) All of CSU Trustees' paid lots are
on the SFSU campus in western San Francisco. (CT189.) Parking by the
public is allowed by paid permit, with permits priced at \$3 for two hours or
\$6 for the day. Students and employees may purchase semester or annual
permits. (CT190.) The prices set by CSU Trustees are "competitive."
(CT192.) (Total fees paid by CSU Trustees' customers are not in the
record, so the total amount of uncollected parking tax is unknown.)

The three universities' parking operations serve similar purposes. The parking lots provide a place to park for individuals who drive to the universities' various campuses and facilities. (CT271, 341-342, 561.) Revenue from parking fees defrays the costs of parking operations. And excess parking revenue supports other activities, such as the operation of UCSF's shuttle bus system. (CT341, 343.)

# III. San Francisco filed this action to compel the state universities to collect and remit San Francisco parking taxes owed by their customers.

None of the universities has ever collected San Francisco parking taxes, filed parking tax returns, or remitted parking tax funds to San Francisco. (CT016, 184, 238, 304.) In 2011 and 2013, the San Francisco Tax Collector demanded that the universities' parking lots begin collecting and remitting San Francisco parking tax. (CT016, 203-204, 286-287, 294-295, 360-362, 373-375.)

When the universities refused, San Francisco sought a writ of traditional mandate (as well as declaratory and injunctive relief) to compel the state universities to collect and remit the parking taxes owed by their customers. (CT007-108.)¹ The San Francisco Superior Court (Hon. Marla J. Miller) denied the writ, on the grounds that the parking tax was an attempted city "regulation" of state property barred by sovereign immunity. (CT556-565.) This ruling similarly barred San Francisco's claim for declaratory and injunctive relief, and judgment was entered for the universities. (CT573-576.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> San Francisco sought a ruling only on whether the universities were required to collect and remit the parking tax and did not seek a ruling on whether any other San Francisco Code provisions applied to the universities' parking operations. (CT019, 602-604.)

San Francisco appealed. In a 2-1 decision, the First District Court of Appeal (Division One) affirmed, holding that the universities' immunity precluded tax collection because imposition of the parking tax was an impermissible regulation of the universities' governmental functions.<sup>2</sup> The decision was filed on May 25, 2017, and no petition for rehearing was filed. San Francisco timely filed a petition for review with this Court on July 3, 2017, and this Court granted review.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

On review of a trial court's decision on a petition for writ of traditional mandate, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed for substantial evidence, and its legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. (City of Oakland v. Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 210, 226.) Where – as here – the facts are undisputed, the court reviews de novo whether governmental immunity bars a local measure. (Bame v. City of Del Mar (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 1346, 1354 (Bame).)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. San Francisco has the constitutional power to raise revenue, which includes the power to enact reasonable tax collection measures such as third-party tax collection requirements.

San Francisco is a charter city with the authority to "make and enforce all ordinances and regulations in respect to municipal affairs,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The universities also argued in superior court that their exemption from *ad valorem* property taxes precluded imposing the parking tax on their customers. (CT208-229, 243-267, 310-334.) After the trial court rejected that argument, Hastings and CSU Trustees abandoned it on appeal. UC Regents pressed the argument, but the Court of Appeal did not address it. UC Regents did not request review of that question.

subject only to restrictions and limitations provided in [its] ... charter[]." (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 5, subd. (a).) The "power to tax for local purposes clearly is one of the privileges accorded chartered cities." (Weekes v. City of Oakland (1978) 21 Cal.3d 386, 392 (Weekes).) Not only that, "the city's power to levy such tax would include the power to use reasonable means to effect its collection." (Ainsworth v. Bryant (1949) 34 Cal.2d 465, 476 (Ainsworth).)

That city revenue power, this Court has held, thus includes the power to require a seller of taxable services to collect taxes on the service owed by the seller's customers, and remit those funds to the city. (See Rivera v. City of Fresno (1971) 6 Cal.3d 132, 139 (Rivera), disapproved on another ground in Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 9 [upholding the city's requirement that an electrical utility collect utility taxes owed by its customers]; Ainsworth, supra, 34 Cal.2d at p. 477 [holding it a reasonable exercise of revenue power for a city to require liquor retailers to collect taxes owed by their customers]).

Requiring sellers to collect taxes from their customers is a reasonable and proper exercise of the revenue power because it is necessary to collection, and it is no exaggeration to say that without this practice, hundreds of millions of dollars of third-party tax revenue would be effectively uncollectable. A "city has no practical nor economical means of collecting such a tax without the cooperation of the supplier of the [taxed] service." (*City of Modesto v. Modesto Irrigation Dist.* (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 504, 508 (*City of Modesto*).) For that reason, "third-party tax collection" requirements – so-called because the party that owes the tax is different from the tax-collecting seller that forwards the tax payments to the taxing authority – are ubiquitous and familiar. As this Court has noted, this

collection practice is "a familiar and sanctioned device" and "a common and entirely lawful arrangement." (Ainsworth, supra, 34 Cal.2d at p. 477, quoting General Trading Co. v. State Tax Com. (1944) 322 U.S. 335, 338 and Monamotor Oil Co. v. Johnson (1934) 292 U.S. 86, 93.) It has ready parallels in "withholding taxes and social security taxes for the United States government, unemployment taxes and numerous excise taxes for the state." (Ainsworth, supra, 34 Cal.2d at p. 477.) And just like those governments, cities throughout California rely on the sellers of taxable services to collect city excise taxes owed by their customers. For city excise taxes like utility taxes, parking taxes, and hotel taxes, the seller of the taxed service simply adds the tax to its charge, and the customer pays both. At the end of each month (or quarter), the seller bundles the tax payments and sends them to the city.

Here, it is undisputed that San Francisco's parking tax is an exercise of its revenue power. (City and County of San Francisco v. Flying Dutchman Park, Inc. (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 74, 91-92.) But San Francisco cannot collect the taxes owed by parking customers without the cooperation of parking operators. (CT18.) It would be cost-prohibitive for San Francisco to post revenue agents next to cashiers throughout the jurisdiction, to collect tax in \$1 or \$5 or \$10 increments across thousands of separate transactions; and it would be unrealistic and impractical to expect each taxpayer to show up at the tax collector's office to self-report and pay these small sums. Accordingly, San Francisco's requirement that the sellers of parking collect the taxes owed by their customers and remit them to the City is a reasonable exercise of the same revenue power exercised by San Francisco to levy the underlying tax.

## II. San Francisco can require entities like the state universities to collect taxes even where it cannot regulate them.

Charter cities in California have the constitutional power to impose taxes to raise revenue. This power is distinct from local governments' regulatory police powers, such that limits on the power to regulate do not constrain cities' power to impose collection requirements, even on entities they could not regulate directly. And because the power to raise revenue is fundamental to the very existence of charter cities, this Court has held, any limitation on the revenue power must be expressly stated. Under these related principles, San Francisco is permitted to tax the universities' parking customers and is permitted to impose collection requirements on the universities, because the constitutional and statutory provisions the universities rely on do not express limit San Francisco's revenue power.

## A. City revenue power and city regulatory power are different.

The differences between city revenue power and city regulatory power are rooted in different constitutional sources. A charter city's revenue power falls under the "municipal affairs" clause of article XI, section 5, subdivision (a) of the California Constitution – which also provides that such "municipal affairs" enactments "shall supersede all laws inconsistent therewith." The power to regulate, by contrast, is granted to all cities by a different provision, article XI, section 7: "A county or city may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws." Not only are the constitutional sources of these powers different – they also have different purposes. "The power to tax permits cities to raise revenue for local purposes, while the police power permits cities to promote the health

and safety of their residents." (8 Witkin, Summary of California Law (11th ed. 2017) Constitutional Law, § 1102, p. 595, citing City of Cupertino v. City of San Jose (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 1671, 1677.) This Court treats the two powers as distinct, and will uphold a local measure if it is a proper exercise of either power. (See, e.g., City of Glendale v. Trondsen (1957) 48 Cal.2d 93, 103 [testing validity of challenged local measure under both city regulatory power and city taxing power].)

# B. A city may exercise its revenue power to impose taxes on activities it cannot regulate, and to require tax collection by entities it cannot regulate.

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