### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Case No. S242835

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 2 7 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division One, Case No. A144500
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. CPF-14-513-434
Honorable Marla J. Miller, Judge

#### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under fundamental sovereignty principles, the City cannot enforce its parking tax ordinance against CSU. The principle, expressed in *In re Means* (1939) 14 Cal.2d 254 and *Hall v. City of Taft* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 177, is straightforward: the State, or a state entity carrying out its statutory charge, is not subject to local ordinances unless the state Legislature says it is. There is only one supreme sovereign, and only its lawmaking body—the state Legislature—can authorize the taxation or regulation of state entities carrying out the State's work. Over the decades and in the main, the courts of appeal have hewed to these early precedents and correctly held that municipalities relying only on their constitutional powers cannot enforce their local laws, including tax ordinances, against the State or state entities.

That San Francisco is a charter city with both "home rule" and police powers does not change the analysis. CSU is a state agency with a constitutionally recognized mandate to operate a public higher-education system, serving the constitutionally recognized statewide interest in education—a subject matter over which, as the Constitution provides, the state Legislature has plenary control. And the Legislature has exercised that control, regulating CSU's operations even as to the construction and operation of parking facilities, and the fees that may be charged for parking.

Stated simply, taxing or regulating CSU exceeds San Francisco's home rule and police powers.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Constitution might in some instances leave room for charter cities to regulate the actions of state entities acting within their statutory mandates—a point that CSU does not concede—there is no valid argument that the City may tax or regulate CSU, in general or in relation to parking. Principles of preemption would prevent this result. As this Court has recognized in cases such as Hall, and more recently in American Financial Services Association v. City of Oakland (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1239, 1252, the Legislature may "impliedly fully occup[y] the field of regulation" and thereby preempt local attempts at regulation. Here, the Legislature's comprehensive statutory scheme governing the CSU system has fully occupied the field, leaving no room for local control of CSU or its campuses. Further, local laws stray into the "supramunicipal" and must give way when they "interfere with interests which transcend the municipality." (California Federal, supra, 54 Cal.3d at pp. 7, 13.) This may occur where, as in this case, the local law interferes with or stands as an obstacle to achieving the statewide education-related interests of the Legislature and state entity—here, in ensuring access to campus, and preserving SFSU's discretion to set campus parking fees to meet a variety of campus objectives, including funding parking facilities and transportation options. Whether viewed through the lens of sovereignty or preemption, the City's parking ordinance cannot be enforced against CSU.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. UNDER FUNDAMENTAL SOVEREIGNTY PRINCIPLES, SAN FRANCISCO CANNOT REGULATE OR TAX CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY
  - A. Legal Framework: The Rule of Means and Hall
    - 1. A Subordinate Governmental Entity Cannot Control a State Entity Carrying Out Its Statutory Charge

This Court's opinions in *In re Means* (1939) 14 Cal.2d 254 and *Hall* v. City of Taft (1956) 47 Cal.2d 177 recognize the inherent limits on a city's authority to apply its laws against state entities acting under state statute.

In Means, the Court held that Sacramento, a charter city, could not enforce its plumber certification ordinance on a state employee working on state property because that would "restrict[] the rights of sovereignty." (14 Cal.2d at p. 258.) It explained that "[t]he municipal government is but an agent of the state, not an independent body. It governs in the limited manner and territory that is expressly or by necessary implication granted to it by the state." (Id. at p. 259, citation omitted.) "[T]he state, when creating municipal governments, does not cede to them any control of the state's property situated within them, nor over any property which the state has authorized another body or power to control," such as a state agency. (Ibid., citation omitted.) "From the nature of things" a city simply cannot have "a superior authority to the state over the latter's own property, or in its control and management." (Ibid., citation omitted.) Means reasoned that Sacramento's ordinance was "inapplicable" to the State given the hierarchical nature of city-state relations: "Either the local regulation is ineffective [as to the state] or the state must bow to the requirement of its governmental subsidiary. Upon fundamental principles, that conflict must

be resolved in favor of the state." (*Id.* at pp. 259-260.) In short, the State "is not subject to the legislative enactments of subordinate governmental agencies." (*Id.* at p. 258.)

Similarly, in *Hall*, this Court held that the building ordinances of Taft, a general law city, did not apply to the construction of a public school. (47 Cal.2d at pp. 179, 189.) In addition to discussing the statewide nature and constitutional underpinnings of education (see Part I.A.2 below), Hall echoed *Means*'s hierarchical principles. The Court noted that no constitutional or statutory provision made school district buildings or their construction "any more amenable to regulation by a municipal corporation than structures which are built and maintained by the state generally for its use." (Hall, supra, 47 Cal.2d at pp. 182-183.) And "[w]hen [the State] engages in such sovereign activities as the construction and maintenance of its buildings, as differentiated from enacting laws for the conduct of the public at large, it is not subject to local regulations unless the Constitution says it is or the Legislature has consented to such regulation." (Id. at p. 183, italics added; see also id. at p. 184 [noting that preemption cases were not on point, and that *Means* was "most pertinent" because it involved "attempted regulation of a state activity"].)11 And the rule of Hall remains good law today. (See Great Western Shows, Inc. v. County of Los Angeles (2002) 27 Cal.4th 853, 871-872 [citing *Hall* with approval].)<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Court in *Hall* thus was not distinguishing between state actions that were "sovereign" and those that were not, but rather between the State's operational aspect—its activities—and its regulatory aspect—its lawmaking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In response to *Hall*, the Legislature enacted statutes requiring that certain specified agencies created by state statute "shall comply" with the building and zoning ordinances of cities and counties in which they are (continued...)

Means and Hall stand for the proposition that local governments relying only on their constitutional authority cannot control the activities of the State or state entities. 13

# 2. Sovereignty Principles Apply with Special Force in Areas of Constitutionally Recognized Statewide Concern

In both *Means* and *Hall*, it was also significant that the state Constitution defined the underlying subject matter as one of statewide concern—in *Means*, the civil service system for state employees, and in *Hall*, the statewide system of common public schools—and charged the Legislature with enacting a comprehensive statutory scheme to carry out the constitutional mandate.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

situated. (Gov. Code, §§ 53090-53091, see also id., §§ 53092-53095; City of Lafayette v. East Bay Mun. Utility Dist. (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 1005, 1013 and fn. 4 [water district]; City of Santa Cruz v. Santa Cruz School Bd. of Ed. (1989) 210 Cal. App.3d 1, 6-7 [school district]; Modesto Irr. Dist. v. City of Modesto (1962) 210 Cal.App.2d 652, 656 [irrigation district].) Other examples of legislative consent to local regulation include Public Resources Code sections 30600, subdivision (a), and 30111 (coastal development permits); Public Resources Code section 5783.5, subdivision (b) (delegating to cities and counties the authority to appoint the board of supervisors of certain park districts); and Water Code section 22476 (requiring city consent to certain actions by irrigation districts). (See also Rev. & Tax. Code, § 7203, subds. (d) & (h)(4) Igranting state consent for the Board of Equalization to administer local sales tax ordinances on behalf of municipalities]; Hastings Br. at Part IV.C.1 [explaining it is the Legislature's prerogative to waive immunity of its agencies]; Regents Br. at I.C. [explaining why consent-based rule is judicially administrable].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The evolution and nature of cities' police powers, and charter cities' home rule authority are further discussed at Part I.C.3, below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The dissent below expressed concern that any rule that would immunize the universities from local tax collection responsibilities would (continued...)

Means examined former article XXIV, section 1 of the state

Constitution setting out civil service requirements. (14 Cal.2d at p. 256.) It
explained that "[t]he State Civil Service Act ... [was] adopted pursuant to
the constitutional [provision and] provides in detail the method by which
persons may secure and retain employment by the state." (*Ibid.*) Means
reasoned that together, these authorities "provide a comprehensive plan for
the selection of state employees"; the city plumbing certification ordinance
was impermissible because it would interfere with the state constitutional
and legislative scheme. (*Id.* at pp. 257-258.)

Hall also examined the state Constitution and legislative scheme governing public schools. It recognized that "their establishment, regulation and operation are covered by the Constitution" and that the Legislature's powers on this topic are "comprehensive." (47 Cal.2d at p. 179.) Hall collected numerous constitutional provisions, including article IX, section 6, providing that "[n]o school or college or any other part of the Public School System shall be ... placed under the jurisdiction of any authority other than one included within the Public School System." (Id. at p. 180.) The Court in particular emphasized article IX, section 1, then and now providing that "the Legislature shall encourage by all suitable means the promotion of intellectual, scientific, moral, and agricultural improvement." (Id. at p. 179, italics in original.) These constitutional

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

apply with equal force to legislatively-created local agencies such as irrigation and water districts. (Dis. opn. 16-17.) CSU notes that such entities generally do not share the attributes of the universities—operating under a comprehensive statutory scheme to carry out a statewide constitutional mandate. (See also Part I.C.4 below, discussing *City of Modesto*.)

provisions evidenced that "[t]he public school system is of statewide supervision and concern ...." (*Id.* at p. 181.)<sup>15</sup>

#### B. Under Principles of Hierarchical Sovereignty, San Francisco Cannot Compel CSU to Serve as Its Parking Tax Collector

Under these sovereignty principles, San Francisco, a subordinate governmental entity, cannot apply its parking tax to CSU or conscript it as a municipal tax collector. California's Constitution recognizes that CSU is a "state agency" vested with "the management, administration, and control" over the statewide college system providing "public higher education." (Cal. Const., art. XX, § 23; see also Ed. Code, § 66606.2.) Providing public education is a sovereign prerogative firmly grounded in the state Constitution and subject to the Legislature's exclusive control.

As *Hall* explained, the public schools are of statewide rather than local concern, and the state Constitution gives the Legislature "comprehensive powers" over their operation. (47 Cal.2d at p. 179; see also *ibid.*, quoting Cal. Const., art. IX, § 1.) The constitutionally recognized "public school system" to which *Hall* referred included the "state colleges" that would later become the state universities constituting today's CSU system. (See *id.* at p. 180, citing Cal. Const., art. IX, § 6; see also Ed. Code, § 89005 [providing that references to "state colleges" refer to CSU].) And the Legislature has enacted comprehensive regulations related to the operations of CSU. (Ed. Code, §§ 89000-90520.) Indeed, as noted, even in operating its parking facilities, the Legislature has provided

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Hall's alternative holding—that the Legislature had occupied the field—is discussed in *Laidlaw Waste Systems, Inc. v. Bay Cities Services, Inc.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 630, and in Part II.A, below.

that CSU must serve the statewide educational mission by prohibiting CSU from operating "a private parking program unrelated to state purposes in competition with private industry." (Ed. Code, § 89701, subd. (c).)<sup>16</sup>

In the words of *Hall*, where, as here, a state entity "engages in such sovereign activities ... it is not subject to local regulations unless the Constitution says it is or the Legislature has consented to such regulation." (47 Cal.2d at p. 183.) As was the case for the general law city in *Hall* and the charter city in *Means*, San Francisco offers no argument that the Legislature has augmented the City's authority to allow regulation or taxation of CSU, or waived state immunity. Without such legislative consent, as a subsidiary governmental entity, San Francisco cannot tax, regulate, or enforce its ordinances against a state agency like CSU carrying out its constitutional and statutory duties. <sup>17</sup> Requiring CSU, a state agency engaged in a sovereign statewide activity, to collect a local tax exceeds the City's power to govern its "municipal affairs."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For a discussion of how local regulation of CSU, including of CSU's parking facilities, would stand as an obstacle to CSU's mission, see discussion at Part II.D, below. (See also Regents Br. at Part II.A.2-3 and Hastings Br. at Part IV.B [explaining that the universities operate parking facilities to further sovereign purposes not to compete in market for revenue].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Assuming CSU could itself consent without the Legislature's permission, it has not. Rather, CSU has at all times objected to San Francisco's attempt to collect the parking tax. (See Background, Part D, above.)

### C. San Francisco's Attempts to Avoid the Rule of *Means* and *Hall* Must Be Rejected

San Francisco's opening brief largely fails to engage with principles of sovereignty. It mentions *Hall* in passing, noting only that it "said nothing about limits on city revenue power" (OBM 27; see also OBM 11, 46, 47), and makes no reference to *Means*. The City in reply may argue that these cases are outdated, or should be rejected. But, as discussed below, the sovereignty principles expressed in these cases were—and continue to be—solidly grounded. Reaffirming the rule of *Means* and *Hall* will not cause significant disruption, as the intervening body of intermediate appellate case law is generally consistent with these precedents.

Turning to San Francisco's affirmative arguments, in addition to arguing that it can regulate CSU under cover of its taxing powers—an argument that cannot be squared with this Court's decision in *California Federal*, *supra*, 54 Cal.3d 1812 (see discussion Part I.C.3, below)—San Francisco relies heavily on cases where courts have upheld municipal regulation of non-governmental third parties (OBM 18-24), and where principles of intergovernmental tax immunity have not precluded taxation of third parties (OBM 29-38). These authorities do not support the City's position that it is empowered to compel CSU to collect local parking taxes from students, staff, and visitors for actions taking place on its campuses.

#### 1. Hierarchical Sovereignty is Solidly Grounded

State sovereignty is an attribute of statehood. As this Court recognized in *Johnson v. Gordon* (1854) 4 Cal. 368, 369, "States are original Sovereigns, with all powers of sovereignty not expressly delegated by the Federal Compact" to the federal government. That compact, in turn,

"preserves the sovereign status of the States" by "reserv[ing] to them a substantial portion of the Nation's primary sovereignty, together with the dignity and essential attributes inhering in that status." (*Alden v. Maine* (1999) 527 U.S. 706, 714.)

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